# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,019

# THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

-VS-

# WILLIAM R. WOODRUFF,

Respondent.

FILED SID J WHITE NOV 2 1995 CLERK. By Chief Deputy Clerk

# **ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW**

# **BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

## **MICHAEL J. NEIMAND**

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0239437 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Ave., Suite N921 P.O. Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441 Fax 377-5655



# **

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The undisputed facts are stated by the Third District as follows:

Defendant was arrested on July 4, 1993, and issued the following tickets: two for DUI with serious injury, two for DUI with property damage and one for driving with a suspended license. Defendant pled not guilty; the matter was set for trial in county court. The court clerk then transferred the tickets to circuit court. Neither party requested a transfer, and the record does not reveal how the transfer was effected. On August 4, the state filed an information in circuit court charging defendant with felony DUI, two counts of DUI property damage and one count each of DUI personal damage, DUI impairment and driving with a suspended license; these charges arose from the same incident as the tickets. The cases were never consolidated.

The speedy trial period on the tickets ran on October 4. On October 15, defendant filed a Notice of Expiration of Speedy Trial in county court. The State took no action within the window period. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(p)(3). Defendant filed a motion to discharge the tickets.

On November 18, Defendant filed a motion in circuit court to dismiss the information on double jeopardy grounds. On December 3, the State nolle prossed the tickets. On December 17, the court granted defendant's motion to dismiss. (Footnote omitted.)

(A. 2-3).

The Third District affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the information on double jeopardy grounds. The Third District held that the Respondent was discharged forever from the county court charges since he had them properly dismissed for a speedy trial violation. The Third District then held that double jeopardy precluded the State from maintaining the felony DUI charge because it found that felony DUI is not a different offense than misdemeanor DUI. The Court found that the elements of both offenses are the same because the only difference between the two offenses is the severity of punishment. (A. 3).

The Third District rejected the State's argument that the misdemeanor speedy trial rule could not bar a subsequent felony charge. This rejection was based on this Court's decision, <u>Reed v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 227 (Fla. 1995). (A. 3).

The State's motion for rehearing was denied. This Court's jurisdiction was sought and obtained.

3

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE CHARGE OF FELONY DUI ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS WHERE THE RESPONDENT WAS DISCHARGED UNDER THE SPEEDY TRIAL RULE FOR MISDEMEANOR DUI EMANATING FROM THE SAME COURSE OF CONDUCT AS THE FELONY DUI AND WITHOUT A FINDING THAT THE FELONY DUI WAS FILED TO THWART THE SPEEDY TRIAL RULE

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District affirmed the trial court's granting of Respondent's motion to dismiss the charges based on double jeopardy. The Third District held that the speedy trial discharge of the misdemeanor DUI charge barred a subsequent prosecution of the felony DUI charge because both offenses were the same.

This holding is erroneous on two grounds. First, a speedy trial discharge operates as a prosecution bar as to those offenses that could have been brought with the barred offenses. Here, since the felony DUI charge could not have been brought in county court with the misdemeanor charge the felony charge can not be barred by a misdemeanor speedy trial discharge. Second, felony DUI is a substantive offense greater in degree than misdemeanor DUI, containing a different essential element therefrom. As such, it is not an identical offense of misdemeanor DUI and double jeopardy does not bar a subsequent prosecution for felony DUI.

### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE CHARGE OF FELONY DUI ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS WHERE THE RESPONDENT WAS DISCHARGED UNDER THE SPEEDY TRIAL RULE FOR MISDEMEANOR DUI EMANATING FROM THE SAME COURSE OF CONDUCT AT THE FELONY DUI AND WITHOUT A FINDING THAT THE FELONY DUI WAS FILED TO THWART THE SPEEDY TRIAL RULE

In the instant case, the Third District has held that a speedy trial discharge of a misdemeanor charge forever bars the State from pursuing felony charges that arise out of the same incident. The State submits that this holding is erroneous on two grounds. First, a misdemeanor speedy trial discharge cannot operate to bar a subsequent felony prosecution because under the speedy trial rule a discharge only prohibits a subsequent prosecution for those offenses that could have been brought with the discharged misdemeanor. Since felony DUI is a substantive offense it can not charged in county court and therefore its not barred by a misdemeanor speedy trial discharge. Second, since a felony DUI charge is a separate substantive offense from a misdemeanor DUI, double jeopardy alone can not prohibit the felony prosecution when the misdemeanor prosecution has been speedy trial discharged.

In <u>Reed v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 227 (Fla. 1995) the defendant was arrested for armed robbery and two counts of leaving the scene of an accident involving

personal injuries. The State then filed an information in circuit court charging the defendant with the two third degree felonies of leaving the scene of an accident involving personal injuries. See §316.027 Florida Statutes 1991. Thereafter the State nol-prossed these charges. Subsequently, 245 days after arrest, the State filed a new information charging the defendant with numerous felonies arising out of the armed robbery and the State eventually added the two counts of leaving the scene of an accident involving personal injury. This Court, citing State v. Agee, 622 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1993), held that the defendant was entitled to a speedy trial discharge on all charges. This Court recognized that Agee was directly on point as to the two traffic charges that were nolprossed and refiled after the speedy trial period expired. As to the charges that were not previously filed but arose from the same conduct or criminal episode, the robbery and kidnaping, this Court held that speedy trial started to run from the date of arrest for the two traffic offenses. Therefore, this Court held that all felonies that could have been filed arising from the conduct which caused the traffic offenses were subject to speedy trial discharge after the State nolprossed the first information.

The <u>Reed</u> decision clearly leaves intact the rule of law which states that the expiration of speedy trial on a lesser included misdemeanor with its shorter time frame does not bar prosecution on a greater felony offense. <u>Nesworthy v.</u> <u>State</u>, 648 So.2d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). The Court in <u>Spurlock v.</u> <u>Cycmanick</u>, 584 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) succinctly explained the rationale for the rule of law that a speedy trial discharge on a lesser included misdemeanor charge does not bar a prosecution for a felony offense which is grounded upon the same conduct or criminal episode when the latter prosecution is filed within 175 days following arrest. The speedy trial time-barred defense operates to bar prosecution only for the crimes as specified in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(n). This rule provides:

Rule 3.191 Speedy Trial

(n) *Discharge from Crime; Effect.* Discharge from a crime under this rule shall operate to bar prosecution of the crime charged and of all other crimes on which trial has not commenced nor conviction obtained nor adjudication withheld and that were or might have been charged as a result of the same conduct or criminal episode as a *lesser degree or lesser included offense.* (Emphasis added).

The foregoing rule specifically bars prosecution only for the crime charged and any other crimes which might have been charged as a result of the same conduct or criminal episode as a lesser degree or lesser included offense. Neither expressly or impliedly does this rule bar prosecution for greater degree crimes which might have been charged as a result of the same conduct or criminal episode.

The State submits that this Court's decision in <u>Reed</u> is consistent with Rule 3.191(n) Fla.R.Crim.P. inasmuch as <u>Reed</u> only barred prosecution of all

8

felonies which arose from the speedy trial barred felony. This holding is in consonance with the <u>Agee</u> rule which only bars those offenses which could have been brought with the speedy trial barred charge.. Applying these principles hereto it is clear that the State could not have brought forth the felony DUI charge when it filed the misdemeanor DUI charge. Therefore, the speedy trial discharge of the misdemeanor DUI charge can not bar the prosecution of the felony DUI charge.

The Third District attempted to circumvent the foregoing rule of law by holding that for double jeopardy purposes felony DUI was the same offense as misdemeanor DUI. The Court recognized this Court's holding in <u>State v.</u> <u>Rodriguez</u>, 575 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 1991) which held that felony DUI was a new substantive offense from misdemeanor DUI. However, the Third District still found that the two offenses were the same for double jeopardy purposes. This holding was based on the erroneous reasoning that since the sole difference between the offenses, the number of prior DUI convictions, are to be determined only by the trial judge after the jury convicts for misdemeanor DUI the offenses are the same.

This holding totally misinterprets <u>Rodriguez</u> and, in turn, this Court's decision in <u>State v. Harris</u>, 356 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1978). In <u>Rodriguez</u>, this Court held that the combined existence of three or more prior DUI convictions is an

element of the substantive offense of felony DUI. This conclusion flowed from Harris wherein this Court found that the legislature had determined that a third or subsequent conviction for petit theft is the separate, substantive offense of felony petit theft and not simply an enhanced penalty. This Court then exercised its power to tailor a procedure to allow the State to prove the existence of the prior convictions without adversely affecting a defendant's constitutionally guaranteed presumption of innocence. This was accomplished by requiring the proof of prior convictions to be made after conviction of petit theft and only to the trial judge. Finally, since proof of the prior convictions is an essential element of the crime of felony petit theft, said element must be noticed and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. See also <u>Gayman v. State</u>, 616 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1993) (Double jeopardy clauses of United States and Florida Constitutions were not violated by trial court's reclassifying petitioners' current petit theft offense as felony petit theft, based on two prior petit theft convictions, and then enhancing petitioners' felony sentence pursuant to habitual felony offender statute since felony petit theft was a substantive crime and not a penalty enhancement.)

Applying the foregoing rationale to felony DUI this Court in <u>Rodriguez</u> concluded that the existence of three or more prior DUI convictions is an essential fact constituting the substantive offense of felony DUI. This Court then adopted the Harris procedure for proving the prior DUI convictions and

### stated:

Moreover, the logic supporting our jurisdictional holding above also supports the conclusion that three prior DUI convictions combine as an essential a element of felony DUI. The circuit court has jurisdiction only because the offense is a felony. It is a felony only by virtue of the fact that the defendant has been convicted of three or more prior DUI violations. It follows that because this is essential to the definition of the crime of felony DUI, it is an essential element that must be noticed and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Art. I, §§ 9, 16, Fla. Const.

Rodriguez v. State, supra, 575 So.2d at 1265.

In accordance with the foregoing, felony DUI is a substantive crime distinct from misdemeanor DUI. Felony DUI is a greater offense than misdemeanor DUI because it has the additional essential element of the proof of the prior convictions. As such, felony DUI is not the same offense for double jeopardy purposes as misdemeanor DUI and therefore a speedy trial discharge for the lesser included offense of misdemeanor DUI does not automatically bar a subsequent prosecution for the greater offense of felony DUI. <u>State v.</u> <u>McDonald</u>, 538 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989).

In <u>McDoanld</u>, the defendant was arrested and charged with misdemeanor petit theft and resisting arrest without violence. Eventually these charges were discharged on speedy trial grounds. Thereafter, the State filed an information

in circuit court charging the defendant with felony petit theft and resisting arrest without violence. The defendant then moved for speedy trial discharge and the circuit court granted the motion. The Second District affirmed the circuit court dismissal of the misdemeanor resisting arrest without violence charge on the ground that the speedy trial discharge of that charge in county court barred a subsequent prosecution for the same offense or any others arising from the same criminal episode that was under the jurisdiction of the county court. As to the felony petit theft charge, the Court reversed and held that the speedy trial barred misdemeanor petit theft charge could not be used to bar the subsequent prosecution of the felony petit theft charge under the rationale that the thwarted misdemeanor prosecutions should not act to place the defendant in any better position than had those charges never been filed. The Second District did recognize that the subsequent felony prosecution could be dismissed upon a showing that the enhanced theft charge was brought in bad faith or was merely a subterfuge designed solely to invoke the jurisdiction of a higher court in order to seek a conviction for the speedy trial barred lesser included misdemeanor offense. See also State v. Johnson, 479 So.2d 279 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985).

Based on the foregoing analysis, the instant decision of the Third District is clearly erroneous since felony DUI is a greater offense than misdemeanor DUI and its prosecution can not be barred by a misdemeanor speedy trial discharge absent a showing that the felony charge was instituted in bad faith. Therefore the instant decision should b quashed with directions to reinstate the felony DUI prosecution.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner submits that the instant decision expressly and directly conflicts with those cited herein and respectfully requests this Court quash the Third District's decision.