FILED SID J WHITE NOV 17 1995 CLERK.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,019

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

WILLIAM R. WOODRUFF,

Respondent,

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT, (CASE NO: 94-309)

> BENNETT H. BRUMMER, Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida AMY D. RONNER, Special Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NO. 0511470 ANTHONY R. KOVALCIK Certified Legal Intern KATHRYN S. ROBBIE Certified Legal Intern St. Thomas University School of Law Appellate Litigation Clinic 16400 N.W. 32nd Ave. Miami, FL 3305 (305) 632-2322

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

This Court's analysis in <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, 383 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1980), is consistent with the reasoning in <u>Nappier</u> and with our point that the prior convictions of DUI is a sentence enhancement. In <u>Eutsey</u>, this Court said that "[t]he purpose of the habitual offender act is to allow enhanced penalties for those defendants who meet objective guidelines indicating recidivism. <u>The enhanced</u> <u>punishment, however, is only an incident to the last offense. The</u> <u>act does not create a new substantive offense.</u>" <u>Id.</u> at 223 (emphasis added). Similarly in felony DUI, the enhanced punishment is only an incident to the last offense -- not a new substantive offense.

In <u>Woodruff</u>, the Third District correctly concluded that "[t]he elements of proof of both felony and misdemeanor DUI offenses are identical" and elaborated:

Section 316.193 defines only one type of DUI offense . . . punished with increasing severity in successive violations. . . Although proving the existence of three prior DUI convictions is an essential element of felony DUI offense, <u>State v. Rodriguez</u>, 575 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 1991), <u>the sole distinguishing factor between the</u> <u>misdemeanor and the felony is the severity of punishment</u> prescribed by section 316.193(2). . . . Hence, the offenses fall under the section 775.021(4)(b)1. double jeopardy bar for 'Offenses which require identical elements of proof.'"

<u>Id.</u> at 587 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Both the conclusion and the elaboration comport with this Court's decisions in <u>Sirmons</u>, <u>Goodwin</u>, <u>Rodriguez</u> and <u>Hlad</u>. As such, this Court should not hesitate to agree with the Third District.

4. Because the County Court Charges Were Properly Discharged, the State Is Estopped From Prosecuting the Identical Offense in Circuit Court.

In affirming the trial court's dismissal, the Third District also properly abided by this Court's reasoning in <u>Rawlins v. State</u>, 322 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1975).

In <u>Rawlins</u>, after the police arrested the defendant for two separate robberies, the State filed a three count petition charging the defendant with those robberies. After the speedy trial period had passed, the defense filed a motion for discharge, which the trial court granted. Two months later, the State obtained two grand jury indictments charging the defendant with the very crimes that had been previously discharged. The defendant moved to dismiss the indictments on the basis of collateral estoppel, res judicata, and/or double jeopardy. After the trial court denied the defendant's motion, the Fourth District issued a writ prohibiting the trial court from asserting jurisdiction on double jeopardy and estoppel grounds.

Although on appeal this Court noted that a "[d]ischarge under the speedy trial rule for failure to timely prosecute cannot serve to support a plea of former jeopardy because the defendant has not been put in jeopardy," <u>Rawlins</u>, 322 So. 2d at 13, this Court nevertheless affirmed. In so doing, it said that "since the discharge under the rule is for failure of state action to timely prosecute, such discharge by the clear language of the rule would rate as an estoppel against prosecution of defendant for the same offenses from which he has been previously discharged." <u>Id.</u> Implicit in <u>Rawlins</u> is the message that whether you call it "double jeopardy" or "estoppel," the result is the same -- that is, the case is over.

Here, as in <u>Rawlins</u>, the trial court was faced with the application of the speedy trial rule. Here, although the county court defense counsel filed a notice of expiration of speedy trial on October 15, 1993, the State did not respond. On December 2,

1993, the county court public defender filed a motion for discharge on the basis that the State failed to bring the defendant to trial before expiration of the fifteen day period. The following day, December 3, the State tried to nol pros the matter. On November 18, 1993, the circuit court public defender sought a dismissal of the charges on the basis that because the speedy trial period had elapsed in county court, the state was barred from prosecuting the same offenses.

At the hearing, the trial court ruled that the State could not prosecute the felony charges in circuit court because the charges were identical to the county court charges. Although the State insisted that jeopardy could not attach to a speedy trial discharge (R. 12-13), the trial court concluded that a dismissal was the right result. Under <u>Rawlins</u>, a dismissal was indeed the right result because Mr. Woodruff's discharge from the county charges "rates as an estoppel against prosecution" of the circuit court charges which are "the same offenses from which he has been previously discharged." <u>Id.</u> at 13. Thus, the trial court properly granted Mr. Woodruff's motion to dismiss and the Third District properly upheld that dismissal.

C. The State's Attempted Nol Pros Was a Nullity and Thus, Does Not and Cannot Change the Proper Result of Dismissal.

The speedy trial rule states: "the intent and effect of this rule shall not be avoided by the state by entering a nolle prosequi to a crime charged and by prosecuting a new crime grounded on the same conduct or criminal episode." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(0).

While the language of this rule is plain and unambiguous and precludes precisely what the State tried to do here in the court below, this Court's decisions in <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993), and <u>Reed v. State</u>, 649 So. 2d 227 (Fla. 1995), further show that the Third District was correct.

In Agee, the defendant was originally charged with attempted second degree murder. The State filed a nol pros thirty-three days before the expiration of the speedy trial period because the victim was in a coma. Once the victim emerged from the coma, the State filed a new information, charging the defendant with premeditated attempted first degree murder. The trial court then dismissed the new charges on the basis that the State had nol prossed in an attempt to circumvent the speedy trial time period.

On appeal, this Court affirmed the trial court's ruling and said that "when the State enters a nol pros, the speedy trial period continues to run and the State may not refile charges based on the same conduct after the period has expired." <u>Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d at 475. This Court emphasized that "the State cannot circumvent the intent of the [speedy trial] rule by suspending or continuing [a] charge or by entering a nol pros and later refiling charges." <u>Id.</u> at 475. This Court, in fact, elaborated on its concerns:

To allow the State to unilaterally toll the running of the speedy trial period by entering a nol pros would eviscerate the rule--a prosecutor with a weak case could simply enter a nol pros while continuing to develop the case and then refile charges based on the same criminal episode months or even years later, thus effectively denying an accused the right to a speedy trial while the State strengthens its case.

Id. at 475.11

The present case is a lot like <u>Agee</u>. Here, the State nol prossed the county court charges on December 3, 1993. It did that in an attempt to avoid the consequences of a dismissal of the identical circuit court charges. In fact, the State knew that the dismissal was coming because Mr. Woodruff had moved for the dismissal of the circuit court charges on November 18, 1993. Basically, the State was trying to employ a tactical maneuver to "wipe the slate clean" of the charges against Mr. Woodruff so that it could get 175 days.¹²

In <u>Reed</u>, which is similar to <u>Agee</u>, the defendant was arrested on January 4, 1991, for armed robbery and several related traffic offenses. On January 24, 1991, the State filed an information charging the defendant with two counts of leaving the scene of an accident involving personal injury. The State then nol prossed the charges on June 27, 1991. On July 15, 1991, the defendant filed his motion to discharge. After this motion was filed, the State

¹¹ In addition, the dissent in <u>Agee</u> agreed that the use of a nol pros should not be used to manipulate the effects of the speedy trial rule and noted that: "[o]ne of the purposes of rule 3.191 is to prevent the State from violating a defendant's right to a speedy trial through <u>tactical maneuvers</u>." 622 So. 2d at 476 (emphasis added).

¹² As the public defender stated in the motion to dismiss hearing, "What they [the State] are doing is working on the County Court case and working on the Circuit Court case using both jurisdictions to their advantage." (TR. 8). In fact, subsequently during the proceeding, the judge echoed these sentiments when he asked the prosecutor point blank: "Would you agree that the proper thing for the State to have done was to null pros the County Court case prior to the filing of the Motion to Discharge? (TR. 11).

then filed an information, charging Reed with various felonies arising out of the robbery. After the denial of the motion to discharge, the State filed an information adding other felonies related to the robbery and recharging Reed with the two original counts.

On appeal, this Court concluded that once a defendant is arrested and the speedy trial period runs on <u>any</u> of the charges, the State cannot avoid the speedy trial period by filing a nol pros. <u>Reed</u>, 649 So. 2d at 229. This Court also deemed Reed to be entitled to a discharge from <u>all</u> of the charges because the State had violated the speedy trial rule, <u>id.</u>, and stated:

The premise upon which Reed's motion for discharge was denied was that because there were no charges pending against him at the time, his motion was a nullity. Taken to its extreme, this reasoning would mean that even though a defendant had been arrested and taken into custody, the speedy trial time for the conduct which precipitated the arrest would never begin to run until the State chose to file an information or indictment. This is contrary to both the letter and the spirit of the speedy trial rule.

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis added).

The Third District decision comports with this Court's reasoning in <u>Agee</u> and <u>Reed</u>. Specifically, the Third District determined that "[t]he state's nolle prosequi was a nullity because the state took no action pursuant to Rule 3.191(p)(3) after the notice of expiration of speedy trial period was filed." <u>Woodruff</u>, 654 So. 2d at 587. Here, the State incorrectly contends that the Third District placed an undue emphasis on the fact that the State attempted to nol pros the misdemeanor charges after the speedy trial period applicable to

the misdemeanor charges had expired. (Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction 8). The flaw in such a contention is that the decisions in <u>Agee</u> and <u>Reed</u> require Florida courts to frown on precisely the nol pros tactics that the State tried to use below. Here, the State attempted to nol pros the county court charges which were identical to the offenses pending in circuit court. This was an outright attempt to avoid the binding effect of the speedy trial rule. Specifically, the State was manipulating to create the fiction that the slate against Mr. Woodruff was clean. Through such a fiction, it tried to begin again with the identical offenses, the very ones that had been forever discharged one day earlier.

II. THE DECISION IN THE COURT BELOW SHOULD BE AFFIRMED UNDER THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE CONSOLIDATION RULE.

A. The State Failed to Consolidate the Identical Misdemeanor and Felony Charges.

Here, the State insists that the circuit court offenses may be prosecuted under the speedy trial period for felonies, even though it failed to prosecute the identical offense within the ninety day period for misdemeanors. Such a notion is not just contrary to the speedy trial rule as a whole, but also inimical to the provision in the speedy trial rule, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(f), that states that a "misdemeanor shall be governed by the same time period applicable to a felony" when a felony and misdemeanor have been consolidated for disposition in circuit court.

It is well-settled that a valid consolidation of offenses

pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.151 becomes effective only "upon motion of a party to the cause and . . . [order] by the Court." <u>Kilqore v. State</u>, 271 So. 2d 148, 150 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972); Sharif v. State, 436 So. 2d 420, 422 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Also, as this Court noted in Ashley v. State, 265 So. 2d 685, 688 (Fla. 1972), "[i]t is well recognized that the consolidation for trial of criminal cases rests within the sound discretion of the trial court." An order of consolidation, of course, is not something the clerk's office can issue.

The plain language of the consolidation rule is worth reiterating:

Consolidation of Indictments or Informations. Two or more indictments or informations charging related offenses shall be consolidated for trial on a timely motion by a defendant or by the state. The procedure thereafter shall be the same as if the prosecution were under a single indictment or information. Failure to timely move for consolidation constitutes a waiver of the right to consolidation.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.151(b).

The reasoning in <u>Kilgore</u> shows that Florida courts strictly adhere to the plain language of the consolidation rule. In <u>Kilgore</u>, the defendant was charged by separate informations with second degree murder and carrying a concealed weapon. The court then set a trial by jury for each information through separate trial orders. On the trial date, the judge then ordered the empaneling of a single jury to try jointly the two informations.

On appeal, the Second District noted that "[t]he

consolidation of two or more separate criminal charges is <u>not</u> a matter of right by either party. It must be properly moved for in an orderly fashion by the party so desiring it, either the State or the defendant." <u>Id.</u> at 150 (emphasis added). Because the record did not reveal that any party had moved for consolidation, the court ruled that it was "procedural error" for the trial judge to have sua sponte consolidated the charges. <u>Id.</u>

What the State is urging here is a redrafting of the consolidation rule. In the court below, the State attempted to circumvent the speedy trial rule by asking the court to put some belated imprimatur on an invalid attempted transfer of the county court charges. The situation here, however, is even more egregious than that in <u>Kilgore</u>. Here, the State sought to rely <u>not</u> on the judge's decision, but on the "ruling" of a court <u>clerk</u> who had tried to effectuate a sua sponte transfer or consolidation.¹³

In sum, because the clerk's attempt to transfer or

¹³ In fact, at the December 13th hearing on the motion to dismiss, the State argued, "[a]s I understand it, the clerk's office did the correct thing in transferring it. Somehow there was an error made --." (TR. 7). Defense counsel countered such a contention by pointing out that: "[it] was an ex parte transfer. The Public Defender's office was not notified." (TR. 7). The trial judge essentially indicated that it was not only ex parte in the purest sense, but also ex-judicial because "[i]t was done by the clerk's office," and even the court had no notice of it. (T. 7). It is thus not surprising that the Third District noted in its Woodruff decision that "[t]he state's argument that the charges were consolidated is without merit. Consolidation may be authorized by only the trial judge upon the proper motion of a party." 654 So. 2d at 587 (citing Ashley, 265 So. 2d at 688).

consolidate was a nullity, the State cannot rely on the purported nullity-transfer-consolidation for proceeding with the "forever discharged" charges.

B. The Result of the State's Failure to Obtain a Consolidation Is a Waiver of the Benefit of the Longer Felony Time Frame.

Under Rule 3.151(b) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the "[f]ailure to timely move for consolidation constitutes a waiver of the right to consolidation." Specifically, the State could not prosecute Mr. Woodruff under the felony time period because it did not avail itself of the procedure set forth in 3.151(b).

The concept of "waiver" is a basic one in our judicial system. It is apodictic that "[t]he doctrine of waiver can encompass not only the intentional or voluntary relinquishment of known rights, but also conduct that warrants an inference of the relinquishment of those rights." <u>Miami Dolphins, Ltd. v.</u> <u>Genden & Bach, P.A.</u>, 545 So. 2d 294, 296 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). All waiver really means is that you don't get what you would have gotten had you done it.

In the present case, the State, either intentionally or voluntarily or through its conduct, relinquished its right to prosecute Mr. Woodruff under the applicable time for felonies by not seeking a consolidation in the manner prescribed by Rule 3.151(b). In fact, the trial judge delivered quite a diatribe on the State's omissions:

THE COURT: <u>I'll tell you the reason why the</u> misdemeanor is still remaining in the County Court.

There is no motion filed for consolidation or transfer to the Circuit Court. The clerk can not do that on its own. There has to be some kind of intervention by the Court, the State, or Defense, to discuss the matter. I don't think it's proper for the clerk to do that on its own. There is no process that I'm aware of that's provided in the Rules of Criminal Procedure that allows a clerk to do that on its own. If a timely Motion to Discharge was filed in County Court by operation of law, 15 days run, and if it's not brought to trial in the window, the Defendant is discharged. I don't see how it's brought back up and you're able to proceed in the felony case.

(TR. 10-11) (emphasis added).

The meaning of waiver is quite clear here: the State does not get to use the felony time period because the State did not do what it needed to do in order to get the felony time period. Thus, the dismissal here is precisely what the waiver provision in the consolidation rule contemplates.

III. THE COURT'S DECISION BELOW SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE IT COMPORTS WITH PREVIOUS DECISION OF THIS COURT AND IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION IN <u>NESWORTHY</u>.

A. The Decision Below is in Harmony With Decisions of This Court.

As should be apparent from the discussion above, this Court should affirm the Third District decision because it comports with numerous decisions of this Court. As we said, in <u>Sirmons</u>, this Court determined that section 775.021(4)(b), the "second tier" of the <u>Blockburger</u> analysis, prohibits dual convictions where, as here, the charges are simply aggravated forms of the same underlying offense and are distinguished from each other only by degree factors. 634 So. 2d at 154. Likewise, in <u>Goodwin</u>, this Court held that a defendant cannot be convicted of two offenses that are simply "aggravated forms of a single underlying offense distinguished only by degree factors." 634 So. 2d at 157. The <u>Woodruff</u> decision is consistent with these cases because as we said, felony DUI is merely an aggravated form of the underlying offense of DUI.

Also, the Third District decision comports with this Court's decisions in <u>Hlad</u>, <u>Rodriguez</u>, <u>Nappier</u> and <u>Eutsey</u>. These cases espouse the proposition that felony DUI is merely a punishment enhancement of misdemeanor DUI, which is based solely on the "historical fact" of a defendant's prior convictions. What this Court explained in Rodriguez, that felony DUI "is a felony only by virtue of the fact that the defendant has been convicted of three or more prior DUI violations," 575 So. 2d at 1265, rings true. Specifically, the judge -- not the jury -- considers the "historical fact" and such consideration occurs only after the jury has convicted the defendant of the underlying offense. As such, the judge's determination of the existence of the prior convictions takes place in what is the functional equivalent of a sentencing. Such a proceeding is a lot like the one that the habitual offender statute contemplates -- where the enhanced punishment is only an "incident to the last offense," and "does not create a new substantive offense." Eutsey, 383 SO. 2d at 223.

In addition, the Third District decision is consistent with this Court's decision in <u>Rawlins</u>, in which this Court held that a speedy trial rule discharge bars the State from

prosecuting the defendant "for the same offenses from which he has been previously discharged." 322 So. 2d at 13. Here the State's violation of the speedy trial rule and failure to consolidate the county court charges with the same circuit court charges means that all of the charges are gone.

Further, the Third District decision comports with this Court's decisions in <u>Agee</u> and <u>Reed</u>. As this Court said in <u>Agee</u>, "when the State enters a nol pros, the speedy trial period continues to run and the State may not refile charges based on <u>the same conduct</u> after the period has expired." 622 So. 2d at 475 (emphasis added). As this Court said in <u>Reed</u>, once a defendant is arrested and the speedy trial period runs on any of the charges, the State cannot avoid the speedy trial period by a filing a nol pros. 649 So. 2d at 229. What underlies the <u>Agee</u> and <u>Reed</u> decisions and other decisions is a policy against allowing the State to use a mechanism, such as a nol pros, to unilaterally extend the time frame under the speedy trial rule.

In the present case, if the State could somehow nevertheless proceed with the same charges after the expiration of the speedy trial rule, it would contravene not only the plain language of the speedy trial rule but also the ruling and spirit of <u>Sirmons</u>, <u>Goodwin</u>, <u>Hlad</u>, <u>Rodriguez</u>, <u>Eutsey</u>, <u>Rawlins</u>, <u>Agee</u> and <u>Reed</u>. That is, anything other than an affirmance here, would give prosecutors a way to unilaterally extend the time frame under the speedy trial rule by the mere filing of

the identical charges in both county court and circuit court. Such duplicative filing would become a form of speedy trial time extension "insurance" and a way for the State to circumvent the "forever discharged" language of the speedy trial rule when and if they happen to mess up in county court.

B. <u>Woodruff</u> Is Not in Conflict With <u>Nesworthy</u>.

Contrary to the State's contention, the Third District's decision is not in conflict with <u>Nesworthy v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), which is distinguishable and actually consistent with the result below. In <u>Nesworthy</u>, the defendant was charged with particular misdemeanor and felony offenses which were different.¹⁴ Here, however, Woodruff's misdemeanor and felony charges were identical.

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